RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-03-2014 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS Appeal No. 2014-AP-175% WISCONSIN Circuit Court Case No. 12-CF-254

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

WADE M. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Barron County, Hon. J. Michael Bitney, Circuit Judge, presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

HERRICK & HART, S.C. Stephanie L. Finn, State Bar No. 1000734 Jay E. Heit, State Bar No. 1026582 Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant 116 W. Grand Avenue Post Office Box 167 Eau Claire, WI 54702-0167 (715) 832-3491 (715) 832-3424 Fax

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Did the trial court err in excluding Mr. Richey's health care provider records?

Trial Court Decision: The trial court acknowledged that the health care provider records had been timely filed under Wis.Stat. §908.03(6m), but held that any statements that Mr. Richey made to his health care providers in those records were not admissible, and that the records themselves could not be admitted unless the statements were redacted.(R.112,p.196-197).

II. Was the improper exclusion of the health care provider records prejudicial or harmless error?

<u>Trial Court Decision</u>: The trial court did not consider the exclusion of the records as error.

Trial Court Decision: The trial court judge acknowledged that he met with jurors after verdict but before sentencing. Judge also acknowledged that letter from juror to court, which was apparently prompted by the meeting, could raise some concerns on the part of the Defendant-Appellant. But judge denied motion for mistrial or request to re-poll jury concluding that his meeting with jurors was not objected to and would not affect his decision on sentencing. (R.116, p.5-13).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The parties' briefs will adequately address the factual and legal issues raised in this appeal. Accordingly, oral argument is not required. Wis.Stat. §809.22.

Publication is appropriate under Wis.Stat. §809.23 because it would clarify the issue of admissibility of medical records and the statements therein. Publication would also help clarify or develop the law with regard to judicial interaction with jurors post-verdict but before sentencing. Such a practice appears to be something that frequently occurs and there should be some guidance.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a July 13, 2012 single vehicle accident in Barron County. The Defendant-Appellant, Wade Richey, was driving a Ford Bronco when he lost control and crashed into a ditch. Two juveniles, JRR and TAS, were riding in the open back bed of the vehicle without a seat or seatbelts. TAS died from his injuries and JRR was significantly injured.

Mr. Richey was charged with Homicide by Negligent Operation of a Vehicle(Wis.Stat. §940.10(1), 939.50(3)(g)), Reckless Driving Causing Injury (Wis.Stat. §346.62(3), 346.65(3)), Reckless Driving Causing Great Bodily Harm (Wis. Stats. §346.62(4), 939.50(3)(i)), and Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Vehicle - Restricted Controlled Substances (Wis.Stat. §940.09(1)(am)).(R.9;16;23).

Upon Mr. Richey's motion to dismiss multiplicitous counts, a Third Amended Information was filed setting forth two charges, Homicide by Vehicle - Use of Controlled Substance and Reckless Driving Causing Great Bodily Harm.(R.41,55). Mr. Richey was found guilty on both charges after a three day jury trial February 25-27, 2014.(R.111; 112;114;79;80).

Prior to sentencing, Mr. Richey filed a Motion for Mistrial or in the Alternative a New Polling of the Jury and

for Recusal of the Trial Court.(R.88). The basis for this Motion was a letter which a juror wrote to the trial judge stating, in part:

Thank you for offering us, the Jurors the opportunity to share our thoughts and/or concerns with you prior to the sentencing date....(R.87;App.31).

The trial court denied Mr. Richey's motion holding, in part, that there was no objection to the judge's statement that he was going to meet with the jurors after the verdict; that no juror suggested what type of sentence should be imposed; and that neither the letter nor anything that happened in the jury room influenced the court with regard to the sentence. (R.116, p.5-13).

Mr. Richey was sentenced to ten years on the conviction for Homicide by Intoxicated Use of a Vehicle - Restricted Controlled Substances (5 years confinement, 5 years extended supervision), and 3 years on the Reckless Driving Causing Great Bodily Harm conviction (1.5 years confined, 1.5 years extended supervision), consecutive.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of the accident were disputed at trial. The State maintained that Mr. Richey had methamphetamine in his system and was driving at a high rate of speed, in a vehicle that was poorly maintained and that he knew, or should have

known, had brake problems, with two juveniles riding in the open bed of the vehicle without a seat or seat belts.

The defense maintained that Mr. Richey had not taken any meth. He showed no signs of impairment at the accident scene or afterward in the ER (R.112,p.189-197), and that if any meth appeared in his blood work it was the result of a false positive due to his asthma medication and over the counter cold medications he was taking (R.112,p.145,147-149). Mr. Richey denied speeding or driving erratically. (R.112,p.184,199-200, 205). He indicated he did not know that the vehicle had any brake problems until he went to brake for an intersection but the brakes didn't work. The pedal went straight to the floor and the vehicle would not stop. (R.112,p.182-188). He maintains he attempted a variety of maneuvers to slow or stop the vehicle which included going into the ditch. He was not successful and the vehicle crashed. **Id**.

Additional facts will be provided as relevant to each argument section.

ARGUMENT

I. IT WAS AN ERROR OF LAW FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO REFUSE TO ADMIT HEALTH CARE PROVIDER RECORDS WHICH HAD BEEN PROPERLY NOTICED BY THE DEFENDANT UNDER WIS.STAT. §908.03(6m).

While Mr. Richey was on the stand, defense counsel provided Mr. Richey with a copy of his ER report which had previously been filed pursuant to Wis.Stats.§ 908.03(6m), and started to question him about statements he had made to the ER doctor as outlined in the medical record.(R.112, p.189-190). The State objected on the basis of hearsay.(R.112,p.190). The court determined that sub.(6m) did not permit hearsay testimony within the records (R.112,p.193), so that Mr. Richey could not read from the records, and that the records themselves would have to be redacted to remove his statements to the health care provider.(R.112,p.196). The court held:

THE COURT: Well, yes, you can use them during your closing argument and it alleviates the necessity of calling somebody in as a medical records custodian. That's what the statute was intended to do, was to lessen the amount of red tape to get these documents actually in the courtroom. But if you want somebody to come in and talk about the content of them, they need to be either a health care provider or someone else who was talking about that these were generated for purposes of diagnosis or treatment and then talk about what the patient said to that physician or whatever as to how he got there, what happened to him, what the nature of his injuries were and how they were sustained.

MR. HEIT: So can I use them in my closing argument?

THE COURT: Well if they come in as an exhibit, why can't he talk about what's in the records? That's part of the evidence. Whether they go to a jury or not is another matter, but if these -- if these documents are going to come in as an exhibit, it's evidence.

MR. HEIT: Right.

THE COURT: And he can argue from the medical report what's in there, but he's limited to what's in the exhibit.

MS. JENSWOLD: Then I'll object and ask him to redact. Those statements shouldn't be -- that's the whole point. Those are hearsay statements. He's essentially offering his client's statements made -those are out-of-court statements. Whether they're made by his client or not, those are still hearsay statements, and he's not arguing they fit within -- that's hearsay within hearsay, and he's not coming up with an exception that says that those should be admitted.(R.112,p.194-195).

.

THE COURT: Mr. Heit, it's going to be the ruling of the Court that unless you can come up with one of the other stated exceptions under 908.03 that this witness will not be allowed to testify about the medical records that are in Exhibit 106 [sic]. Again, what you have accomplished by prefiling those with the Court is eliminating the need for a records custodian to come in and authenticate them and nothing more. Absent a stipulation from counsel that these medical records will be admitted into evidence without either being redacted or even with being redacted, you're going to have to come up with another exception in the hearsay rule to permit this witness to testify about these medical records. (R.112, p.196; App.15).

The trial court erred in excluding Mr. Richey's health care provider records. The court held that before anyone could testify to the content of them [or read the content of them to the jury], then it would have to be a health care provider or someone else that could testify that they were generated for the propose of diagnosis or treatment and then talk about what the patient said to the physician, how he got there, what the nature of his injuries were and how they were sustained.(R.112,p.193-194). This was an error of law contrary to Wis. Stat.

§908.03(6m), which provides:

(b) Authentication witness unnecessary. A custodian or other qualified witness required by sub.(6) is unnecessary if the party who intends to offer patient health care records into evidence at a trial or hearing does one of the following at least 40 days before the trial or hearing:

1. Serves upon all appearing parties an accurate, legible and complete duplicate of the patient health care records for a stated period certified by the record custodian.

2. Notifies all appearing parties that an accurate, legible and complete duplicate of the patient health care records for a stated period certified by the record custodian is available for inspection and copying during reasonable business hours at a specified location within the county in which the trial or hearing will be held.

There is no dispute that this process was followed in this case. Thus, the records should have been admitted into evidence. Admissibility of hospital records as an exception to hearsay was discussed in *Hagenkord v. State*, 100 Wis. 2d 452, 460, 302 N.W.2d 421(1981):

There is no question of admissibility of these hospital records under the Wisconsin Rules of Evidence. Even when a doctor or other declarant who furnishes such medical or hospital services is actually available and does not testify as to his entries and although no record custodian appears to vouch for the regularity of the records, hospital records are not excluded as hearsay. They are specifically excepted from the rule against admission of hearsay, provided that a copy certified by the record custodian is filed with the court ten days prior to trial and a notice of the filing is given to all parties. Secs. 908.03(6m) (a) and 910.03, Stats. Hospital records so introduced in compliance with sec. 908.03(6m) (a) are self-authenticating by operation of sec. 909.02(11). The defendant acknowledged that these procedural requirements were fully complied with. Thus, on an evidentiary basis, as distinguished from constitutional grounds, the records were properly received.

There was no dispute that the procedural requirements for Mr. Richey's health care provider records were fully complied with. Thus, the records should have been admitted. In *Hagenkord* the Court discussed the unique reliability and trustworthiness of hospital records:

Basically, certain types of evidence are excepted from the hearsay rule because they are thought to bear sufficient indicia of reliability that, upon proper authentication, they may be admitted into evidence without the accompanying testimony and presence for cross-examination of their maker. Depending on the degree of reliability, some of such evidence may satisfy the strictures of the Constitution which quarantee the right of confrontation.

In respect to the hearsay rule, a hospital record clearly falls within the category of evidence that is so reliable that not only factual observations recorded in hospital records but medical opinions and diagnoses may be admitted into evidence upon compliance with the procedural rules even though the declarants, the makers of the records, are available for cross-examination.

The unusual reliability and trustworthiness of hospital records was recognized by this court's adoption of Rule 908.03(6m)(a), 67 Wis.2d xvii. The reasons for the special credence and treatment given to hospital records, even in the absence of the supporting testimony of the makers of the records, are explained in 6 Wigmore on Evidence, sec. 1707, pp.51-2. Wigmore states:

"Sec. 1707. Hospital records. The medical records of patients at a hospital, organized on the usual modern plan, deserve to be placed under the present principle. They should be admissible, either on identification of the original by the keeper or on offer of a certified or sworn copy. There is a necessity (sec. 1421 supra); the calling of all the individual attendant physicians and nurses who have cooperated to make the record even of a single patient would be a serious interference with convenience of hospital management. There is a circumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness (sec. 1422 supra); for the records are made and relied upon in affairs of life and death. Moreover, amidst the day-to-day details of scores of hospital cases, the physicians and nurses can ordinarily recall from actual memory few or none of the specific data entered; they themselves rely upon the record of their own action; hence, to call them to the stand would ordinarily add little or nothing to the information furnished by the record alone. The occasional errors and omissions, occurring in the routine work of a large staff, are no more an obstacle to the general trustworthiness of such records than are the errors of witnesses on the stand. And the power of the court to summon for examination the members of the recording staff is a sufficient corrective, where it seems to be needed and a bona fide dispute exists.

"Accordingly, modern legislation respecting regular entries (sec. 1561a supra, Chadbourn rev.) is now applied to hospital records, subject to various limitations noted below."

McCormick on Evidence, sec. 313, p.730 (1972 ed.), also emphasizes the unusual degree of reliability which can be placed upon hospital records because of the standardized type of record keeping and because life and health depend upon the accuracy of such records. See also **Holz**, supra, p.1003.

This court, in **Rupp v. Travelers Indemnity Co.**, 17 Wis.2d 16, 22, 115 N.W.2d 612 (1962), has commented upon the societal costs in terms of disruption of hospital and medical administration if the large number of the participants necessary to the making of even a single hospital record were obliged to be called as witnesses. Moreover, that case also pointed out that such a witness "no doubt, would be unable to recall any independent recollection of his particular entry other than it was in his handwriting and was true."(P. 22, 115 N.W.2d 612)

Accordingly, the hearsay exception in respect to hospital records, as scholarly works and a specific holding of this court show, has been given attributes of unusual reliability and trustworthiness, and consideration has been given to the countervailing practical considerations which would be involved were it necessary to call all of the original witnesses. *Hagenkord*, 100 Wis.2d at 469-71.

While a confrontation clause case and addressing the victim's, as opposed to the defendant's, hospital records, the Wisconsin Supreme Court's analysis in **Hagenkord** is equally applicable here. Hospital records have attributes of unusual reliability and trustworthiness and, as such, are excepted from the hearsay rule and should have been admitted. No further testimony or medical witness was required for the records, and the statements within them, to be admitted. Any concerns about multiple hearsay are addressed in the underlying assumptions about the medical records and the information therein, including the patient's statements to medical personnel.

Even if not already accounted for in the medical records exception itself, the State and the court's concerns of multiple hearsay were unfounded because the statements within the medical records are also excepted from hearsay under Wis.Stat. §908.03(4) which provides:

(4) STATEMENTS FOR PURPOSES OF MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS OR TREATMENT. Statements made for purposes of medical

diagnosis or treatment and describing medical history, or past or present symptoms, pain or sensations, or the inception or general character of the cause or external source thereof insofar as reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment.

The court itself recognized that this exception existed, along with (6m), but still refused to accept the records:

It's my belief that 908.03(6m), if the documents are properly filed in advance, eliminates the need for a medical records custodian to come in and authenticate or verify the authenticity of the records. What I think we're addressing here is whether or not under (4), information about what happened to this young man and whether he was treated or not is admissible as an exception to the hearsay rule.

However, despite acknowledging both of these exceptions

to the hearsay rule, the court still held:

The exception that you're stating under sub (6m)...allows the records to come in but doesn't allow hearsay testimony within the records to be admissible...I think you need something in the nature of either a physician or some kind of health care provide who actually provided the treatment to this young man to talk about what he gave in terms of a subjective narrative of what occurred or what his injuries were or how they were sustain to be allowed to testify about the actual content of the report itself.(R.112,p.193).

This holding is in error because (6m) addresses this very concern regarding any statements within the record itself. The records, and the statement within them, should have been admitted without any further foundation or exception. Even if, arguendo, separate analysis was required because Mr. Richey's statements could be classified as hearsay within hearsay, the court still erred because the proper application of both (4), as specifically referenced and acknowledged by the court, in conjunction with (6m) makes these records, and Mr. Richey's statements therein for the purpose of medical treatment, admissible.

A very similar example is outlined as a "textbook" multiple hearsay analysis in the Wisconsin Practice Series, \$805.1, Multiple hearsay:

The rule, then, was intended to deal generally with the problem of multiple hearsay and did not set any limit on the permissible number of hearsay levels. As long as each level satisfies the hearsay rule, there are sufficient guarantees of reliability to warrant admission. Problems involving an attenuated hearsay "chain" should be directed at weight or, where appropriate, considered under Wis.Stat. §904.03. The real challenge of multiple admissibility is correctly analyzing what is being asserted at each level and how the statements are being used in evidence.

For example, assume that a hospital record contains notes by a nurse to the effect that a private ambulance attendant informed her that while in the ambulance the patient said that he had attempted suicide with a gun. This example contains three levels of hearsay, each of which assert something very different. Starting with the first statement in chronological order, the hearsay problem is as follows:

Level 1: The patient asserts that he was injured when he attempted suicide; this is in the form of an oral statement made by the patient to the ambulance attendant.

Level 2: The ambulance attendant asserts that the patient told him that the wound occurred when he

attempted suicide; this is in the form of an oral statement made by the ambulance attendant to the nurse.

Level 3: The nurse asserts that the attendant told her that patient told him that the injury occurred when the patient attempted suicide; this appears as a written note made by the nurse in the hospital record.

The hearsay analysis turns upon what the proponent is trying to prove with the hospital record.

Assume that the patient later sues the gun manufacturer in a products liability action alleging that the gun accidentally misfired. The gun manufacturer intends to introduce the hospital record to show that the injury occurred during a suicide attempt, not because of an accidental misfire. As we will see, the proponent is using the record as triple hearsay. Each level must be brought within an exception or admitted for a relevant nonhearsay purpose. Although purely a matter of personal preference, it is suggested that multiple layers of hearsay are analyzed most effectively by starting with the last layer and moving backward in time, as it were, to the initial layer.

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