RECEIVED

01-07-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2014AP1758-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

WADE M. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN BARRON COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE J. MICHAEL BITNEY PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-8556 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) moellermm@doj.state.wi.us

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

Compliance with Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6m) does not ensure admissibility. Health care provider records are subject to all objections that may be lodged against records admitted under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(6). For example, multiple layers of hearsay should be closely scrutinized. Statements by non-employees must be qualified under some other hearsay exception if offered for the truth of the matter asserted.⁴

⁴Such statements may be admissible under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(4), as pertaining to medical diagnosis or treatment.

7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence, § 803.6m (3d ed. 2008), at 775-77.

Professor Blinka's understanding of § 908.03(6m) squares with the 1990 Judicial Council Note to § 908.03(6m):

JUDICIAL COUNCIL NOTE, 1990:

Subsection (6m) is amended to extend the self-authentication provision to other health care providers in addition to hospitals. That such records may be authenticated without the testimony of their custodian does not obviate other proper objections to their admissibility.

158 Wis. 2d at xxix (emphasis added).

The hearsay exception for records of regularly conducted activity found in § 908.03(6) does not extend to all statements found in an organization's records. That subsection provides that the following are not excluded by the rule against hearsay, regardless of whether the declarant is available as a witness:

(6) RECORDS OF REGULARLY CONDUCTED ACTIVITY. A memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, opinions or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by, a person with knowledge, all in the course of a regularly conducted activity....

Regardless of the number of declarants involved, "all of them must have been part of the organization that prepared the record." Blinka, § 803.6, at 767 (footnote omitted). Consequently, statements Richey made to personnel at the

Cumberland clinic do not qualify as records of regularly conducted activity because Richey was not part of the organization that prepared his records.

Although it involved police reports as opposed to hospital records, *Mitchell v. State*, 84 Wis. 2d 325, 267 N.W.2d 349 (1978), illustrates why Richey's statements to clinic employees do not come within the hearsay exception for records of regularly conducted activity.

At Mitchell's preliminary hearing, the trial court had relied on § 908.03(6) to admit statements of the alleged victim, Steven Hurst, that were contained in a police report. The statements were admitted for the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., to show that Mitchell did not have consent to drive Hurst's car. *Mitchell*, 84 Wis. 2d at 329-30. The supreme court agreed with the State's concession that the statements attributed to Hurst were not admissible as a record of a regularly conducted activity under § 908.03(6):

This exception allows the introduction of documents made in the course of a regularly conducted activity, which includes police reports. When the report contains out-of-court assertions by others, an additional level of hearsay is contained in the report and an exception for that hearsay must also be found. Sec. 908.05, Stats. That is, the reports cannot establish more than their maker could if he was testifying in court on their subject matter. Thus, defendant's hearsay objection is not to the details of which the officer had personal knowledge but to the repetition of declarations made by Hurst to the officer over the phone. The business records exception

does not allow admission of this second level of hearsay.

84 Wis. 2d at 330.

Like the statements Hurst made to police in *Mitchell*, Richey's statements to clinic personnel in the emergency room are out-of-court statements by other than the maker of the record. Just as the business records exception did not allow admission of Hurst's statements to prove nonconsent, here the exception for patient health care records does not allow admission of Richey's statements to prove that he was wearing a seat belt, that the belt broke in the crash, and that his vehicle's brakes didn't work. Rather, as the prosecutor argued (see 112:195), Richey's statements at the clinic constituted hearsay within hearsay, requiring Richey to identify another applicable hearsay exception for his statements to be admitted.

Mitchell is consistent with the earlier decision of Noland v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co., 57 Wis. 2d 633, 205 N.W.2d 388 (1973), a case that involved the business records exception under former Wis. Stat. § 889.25 (1971), the forerunner to current § 908.03(6). As the supreme court in Noland explained,

[T]he memorandum of the physician is admissible as the result of the business records exception... to the extent of showing that he made the entry, but the assertions made by the patient and recorded therein are not admissible for the purpose intended in this action [i.e., to prove that a patient's medical condition was pre-existing] unless they are made so by additional exceptions to the hearsay rule.

57 Wis. 2d at 638-39 (emphasis added).

Mitchell and *Noland* support the trial court's ruling that Richey had to find some other hearsay exception to permit admission of his out-of-court statements to Cumberland clinic personnel for the truth of the matter asserted.

Insofar as Richey relies on *Hagenkord v. State*, 100 Wis. 2d 452, 302 N.W.2d 421 (1981), as authority for the view that his statements were admissible under § 908.03(6m), that reliance is misplaced and arises from Richey's failure to distinguish between observations and diagnoses of medical personnel contained in hospital records and statements made by patients and recorded in those records. *Hagenkord* involved the former, e.g., records stating that "a pool of grayish liquid was found in the posterior of the victim's vagina and laboratory reports indicat[ing] that this pool of grayish liquid contained spermatozoa." 100 Wis. 2d at 459. The hospital records in Hagenkord did not involve statements by the victim-patient offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Not surprisingly, Hagenkord did not even raise a hearsay objection to the medical records. Rather, on appeal he argued that because the records were never placed before the jury, there was no evidence from which the jury could find that intercourse had taken place. *Id.* at 460.

Hagenkord therefore lends no support to Richey's argument.

D. Even if Richey had not waived the argument that his statements about seat belt usage and brake failure constitute statements made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment, those statements are not admissible under Wis. Stat. § 908.03(4).

Insofar as Richey now contends that his statements recorded in his patient health care records are admissible as statements made for the purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment under § 908.03(4), the time to make that argument was in the trial court. But a review of defense counsel's statements during the discussion about the admissibility of Richey's statements to emergency room personnel reveals that counsel never raised the point even though the trial court practically invited him to do so. *See* 112:196-97.

In the first instance then, the State submits Richey waived the right to now argue on appeal that his statements to emergency room personnel were admissible under § 908.03(4).

Even had Richey advanced this argument below, it would have failed. To qualify for admissibility under the statute, statements must be "reasonably pertinent to diagnosis or treatment." See § 908.03(4). While Richey's statement that he "did hit the windshield" (39-5) was reasonably pertinent to his diagnosis or treatment by raising the possibility of a concussion, the following statements Richey made to emergency room personnel were not reasonably pertinent to his diagnosis or treatment:

He states he was belted and his seatbelt didn't work. He states the brakes didn't work, so he put the vehicle into the ditch to try and stop it.

(39-5.)

Although arising from a very different set of facts, *Flores v. State*, 69 S.W.3d 864 (Ark. 2002), helps demonstrate why Richey's statements to emergency room personnel about the circumstances surrounding the crash do not qualify as statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment.

In *Flores*, the Arkansas Supreme Court held that a mother's statements to a treating physician identifying Flores as the person who threw her child against a wall "had nothing to do with medical treatment and could well have been blame-shifting by someone who was soon to be charged as a co-defendant." 69 S.W.3d at 874. Similarly, Richey's statements about seat belt usage and brake failure had nothing to do with his medical treatment. Those statements therefore are not admissible under § 908.03(4).

For all these reasons, the statements Richey sought to admit were properly excluded at trial.

II. Any error in excluding Richey's health care records was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Even if the trial court erred in excluding Richey's health care records, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because there is no reasonable possibility the exclusion of the records contributed to the outcome of the trial. See

State v. Echols, 2014 WI App 58, ¶ 15, 348 Wis. 2d 81, 831 N.W.2d 768. More specifically, none of the three reasons Richey advances to support his argument that the records' exclusion prejudiced him withstands scrutiny.

First, Richey says that his statements to hospital personnel to the effect that he was belted before the accident and that his brakes didn't work show that his story was consistent and that he was not making it up to avoid trouble. Richey's brief at 15. But that point was already driven home by the testimony of several prosecution witnesses who related Richey's statements at the scene of the crash, before he was transported to the Cumberland clinic for treatment.

Shane Jilek, a deputy with the Barron County Sheriff's Department (111:121), testified that at the crash scene, Richey said that "he wasn't able to stop for the intersection, that the brakes did not work" (*id*.:127). Richey told Jilek that he noticed his brakes weren't working when he was near a barn that Jilek later determined to be about 255 feet from the intersection (*id*.:127-28).

Jilek further testified that Richey reported he had been wearing a seat belt before the crash but that it had fallen off during impact (111:129). The day after the crash, Jilek interviewed Richey over the phone (id.:136), During that conversation, Richey again said he had been unable to brake for the intersection so he headed for the ditch (id.:137). Richey also repeated that once he struck the ditch embankment, his seatbelt "had flown off" (id.:138). During their phone conversation, Richey told Jilek that the brakes were in working order on his way to Barronett, and he had not had

mechanical problems with the brakes prior to the accident (*id.*). On cross-examination, Jilek repeated that Richey had claimed he thought his brakes were in good working order when he drove to Barronett and that he denied having any mechanical problems with them before the accident (111:144-45).

While the phone conversation between Jilek and Richey occurred after his statements to emergency room personnel, Jilek's overall testimony demonstrated that Richey's statements that his brakes had failed remained consistent from the time of the crash through trial.

Jilek was not the only prosecution witness whose testimony supported the consistency of Richey's explanation of how the accident unfolded. Deputy Ryan Hulback, who had contact with Richey at the scene of the crash (111:148), testified that Richey said he discovered his brakes were defective as he started to approach 26½ Avenue (id.:150). Richey told Hulback he "attempted to put the brake pedal down" but nothing happened (id.). Richey explained to Hulback that he also tried putting the vehicle into reverse and neutral in an attempt to slow or stop it (id.). In talking to Hulback, Richey also claimed he had been wearing a seatbelt but that it came off during the accident (id.:151).

Jilek's and Hulback's testimony demonstrated that Richey at the first opportunity told investigators he had been wearing a seatbelt that came off during the crash and that his brakes had failed. Consequently, the exclusion of similar statements Richey made to emergency room personnel *after* the statements to Jilek and

Hulback did not prejudice Richey. Richey's first reason for why exclusion of his health care records was not harmless therefore fails.

Richey next claims that exclusion of his health care records prejudiced him because the records do not mention "any signs of impairment" or "any signs of meth usage"; he claims "[t]his was a key fact in the case." Richey's brief at 16.

More correctly, the "key fact" was whether Richey had a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance – here, methamphetamine – in his blood (114:6). And this "key fact" only affected the first count of the information: causing the death of TS by the operation of a motor vehicle while having a detectable amount of a restricted controlled substance in his blood (*id*.:5).

To convict Richey on count one, the State was not required to show any impairment on his part. The prosecutor stressed this fact repeatedly during closing arguments. First, during her initial closing, the prosecutor told the jury, "He's not charged with driving impaired. There's no allegation of that" (114:18). Next, during her rebuttal closing, the prosecutor responded to defense counsel's argument that there was no evidence Richey was driving while impaired:

Mr. Heit [defense counsel] urged you to think about the testimony of the troopers and the effect that meth had or the lack thereof of the effect that it had on the defendant and his driving. He urged you to look at it, but there is no reason for you to look at that because he's not charged with operating while impaired. If he had not done well on those field sobriety tests he would be

charged with operating while impaired. He's not charged for that.

And while it's something for you to consider, you need to remember what the law is....

The law says it is a crime to operate with a detectable amount of methamphetamine in your system, regardless of whether or not there is impairment. That's why he's charged. That's what you are to focus on. It doesn't matter whether he was impaired or his ability to drive was impaired because he's not charged with that crime. That's not the issue here.

(114:44.)

While the State was not required to show impairment to convict Richey on count one, the of impairment admittedly had relationship to the affirmative defense that TS's death would have occurred even if Richey had been exercising due care and had not had a detectable amount of methamphetamine in his blood (see 114:6). But because the State challenged the affirmative defense on the basis that Richev could not prove he had been exercising due care, and not on his failure to prove lack of impairment (see 114:25-27), the absence of the health care records had very little bearing on the affirmative defense.

In addition, as the discussion in Richey's brief at pages 16-17 establishes, two of the prosecution's law enforcement witnesses – Trooper Prohovnik and Deputy Hulback – testified that Richey showed no signs of impairment immediately after the crash.

Finally, Richey is wrong in contending that his health care records would have helped show that his positive blood test for methamphetamine was a false positive (see Richey's brief at 18). Nothing in the records (39-4 to 39-12) supports the defense expert's opinion that the test result was a false positive (112:147) or undermines the State expert's testimony that the test result was due to the presence of methamphetamine and not a false positive caused by Richey's use of an inhaler or cold medicine (see generally id.:110-18).

Richey's second reason why exclusion of the records harmed him does not withstand scrutiny.

Richey's third claimed reason why exclusion of the records was prejudicial is that had they been admitted at trial, he could have used the records at sentencing to support his denial of having used meth. Richey's brief at 19. This assertion deserves short shrift.

Because the rules of evidence do not apply at sentencing, see Wis. Stat. § 911.01(4)(c), Richey could have introduced and used the records at the sentencing hearing despite their exclusion at trial.

In summary, any error in excluding Richey's health care records was harmless because there is no reasonable possibility that admission of the records would have changed the outcome of the trial.

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